
State of Iowa Office of the Chief Information Officer 
 

Addendum #1 to RFP # 0320-129-01 
E-Government Application Portal 

 
1. (Sec. 1.3)  Of the functionality outlined in this RFP (Application Portal, Directory, Forms, 

Search, and Payment), which are currently live on the state’s web portal? 
 

The State of Iowa’s current web portal (www.iowa.gov) provides some capabilities in 
support of Application Portal, Directory, Forms, Search and Payment at the present 
time.  For example, users can currently access a search function on www.iowa.gov. 
Users can also make payments through Iowa’s current centralized E-Payment engine 
or directly through payment capabilities integrated with online applications. 
SeamlessDocs is used to provide online form capabilities. It is anticipated that as a 
result of this RFP, these features may be replaced by the capabilities of the new 
E-Government Application Portal delivered by the Contractor. 

 
2. (Sec. 1.3)  To what extent will the Contractor be integrating with existing functionality on the 

iowa.gov portal versus replacing it? 
 

The State of Iowa welcomes recommendations from Respondents concerning the 
optimal blend of new and existing functionality. Proposals will be considered that 
recommend the replacement of any or all current capabilities of the existing portal. 

 
3. (Sec. 1.3)  Who are the current providers of this functionality? 
 

A blend of solutions are leveraged to provide existing functionality including 
internally developed and externally sourced systems as follows: 
 
Forms - SeamlessDocs 
Portal Homepage and Directory - Webspec Design, LLC. 
Online Payment - Internally developed system 

 
4. (Sec. 1.3)  What are the hourly rate, convenience fee, and value-added service fee rates 

currently charged by the State’s vendor? 
 

Convenience fees and value-added service fees can and do vary by use case and 
agency. There are multiple payment providers and scenarios presented to users 
based on the responsible agency and program with which they are completing a 
transaction. A goal of this RFP is to unify and standardize this approach. At the 
present time there are also many vendors and different fee structures. As a 
consequence, a single response to this question is difficult to provide. For example, a 
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“Writing Fee” of $3.12 is charged by the Department of Natural Resources for the sale 
of fishing licenses. To pay taxes in Iowa, the Iowa Department of Revenue leverages 
different payment options and providers (e.g.  ACI Payments, Inc. for credit cards, 
internal systems for ACH transactions) with different fee structures. 

 
5. (Sec. 1.3)  Will the state continue to use separate vendors for processing payments made 

via in-person, IVR and other channels? In the future, will the State consider consolidating 
the contracts? 

 
A goal of this RFP is to unify and standardize the approach to payment by agencies of 
the State of Iowa. To the fullest extent possible, the existing contracts and providers 
will be consolidated through this process. At the present time, the Agency has not 
identified where limits or barriers would exist to a full consolidation of all payment 
operations, but some limitations on full consolidation may be discovered once a 
contract is awarded pursuant to this RFP and detailed discovery has begun. 

 
6. (Sec. 1.3, p 10)  Do you see this solution replacing the various existing payment processing 

contracts? 
 
 

See Answer to Question 5. 
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7. (Sec. 1.3)  Could the State provide information regarding what they consider to be the most 

important features of a web portal? Please rank the below and add any items as applicable. 

Rank 
 
 

 
An account search and shopping cart able to support payments for multiple 
agencies. 

 
A payer profile able to support customer settings including scheduled and future 
payments. 

 Solution that is capable of being omni-channel: in-person, phone, IVR, text to pay. 

 E-billing 

 Reminders for upcoming due dates/payment deadlines 

 
Diversity of payment types supported: Card, E-check, PayPal, Venmo, Apple Pay 
for Web, etc. 

 Directory 

 Form submission 

 Form status tracking 

 Schedule appointments 

 Conduct virtual appointments/meetings 

 Mobile Application (Apple Store/Google Play) 

 Interactive customer help (for example, chatbot) 

 Other 

  
The Agency will release scoring weights associated with all scored criteria at the end 
of the award process. Respondents should view each requirement set forth in the 
RFP as important and provide recommendations based on their core competencies 
and capabilities in alignment with the State’s vision as set forth in the RFP. 
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8. (Sec. 1.3)  Which of the following attributes would the State consider most important in a 
web portal, looking toward the future? Please rank the below and add any items as 
applicable. 

Rank 
 
 

 An intuitive user experience - the site is clear and easy to use 

 Consistent delivery of new features and enhancements 

 
Website customizations - changes are made to the site rather than to any existing 
business processes 

 Reliability/uptime 
 
 

The Agency will release scoring weights associated with all scored criteria at the end 
of the award process. Respondents should view each requirement set forth in the 
RFP as important and provide recommendations based on their core competencies 
and capabilities in alignment with the State’s vision as set forth in the RFP. 

 
 
9. (Sec. 1.3)  Figure 1 references a "State of Iowa Identity Management" system. Who is the 

State's identity management provider? 
 

The State has not yet selected a vendor for its new Identity Management service. At 
the present time, the system used to provide a single credential set for the public is 
an internally developed solution. The State anticipated that this solution will be 
replaced by a third-party, cloud-based service (e.g. Okta) in alignment with the 
implementation of the E-Government Application Portal described in this RFP. 
Respondents are encouraged to provide recommendations for identity solutions and 
describe capabilities associated with the integration with leading Identify 
Management Solutions in their response to Section 4.4.2.3. 

 
10. (Sec. 1.3, p. 13)  If a user completes three separate transactions and checks out through the 

shopping cart, would that result in one convenience fee or three?  Would vendors who 
choose model a2 get paid one transaction fee or three? 

 
The State envisions that in the example set forth on Page 13, the transaction would 
result in one convenience fee.  Vendors who choose to respond to the Cost Proposal 
Section 3(a2) “Alternative Transaction Based Fee Schedule” would receive one 
transaction fee for the example transaction set forth on Page 13. 
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11. (Sec. 1.3, p. 12)  Does the State envision this fee (the convenience fee) covering the 
E-Governmental Application Portal costs, as well as any ACH and credit/debit card 
processing costs, or is this convenience fee just to cover the portal costs? 

 
Yes, the State envisions the convenience fee described on Page 12-13 (also named 
Transaction Fee in the cost Proposal Section 3(a2)) would include all payment 
processing costs and portal costs, not including any one-time implementation costs 
bid by the vendor. 
 

12. (Sec. 1.3)  Will this initiative replace Iowa.gov or be embedded within it? 
 

The State of Iowa seeks recommendations from Respondents concerning whether the 
E-Government Application Portal would replace Iowa.gov or be embedded within it. 
Proposals delivered by Respondents that take either approach will be considered. 
Most critically, the State believes that a common look and feel must be preserved as 
users transition between www.iowa.gov and the portal if www.iowa.gov is retained. 

 
13. (Sec. 1.3)  If you keep the Iowa.gov will you continue to maintain it? 
 

Yes, if the State of Iowa keeps www.iowa.gov, it will continue to be maintained by the 
State. 

 
14. (Sec. 1.3)  How many forms will we be required to create from all the agencies? 
 

The count of total forms is not known at this time. Respondents may provide the 
number of forms they can deliver at the price set forth in the Cost Proposal by 
including such information in response to Sections 4.4.1.3.4, 4.4.2.3, and/or 4.4.2.8. 

 
15. (Sec. 1.3)  Will each agency website be required to migrate to the new portal's payment 

features? 
 

It is anticipated that all executive branch agencies will eventually participate in the 
E-Government Application Portal. Timelines for participation and integration with the 
portal have not been established and are expected to take place over a period of time.  

 
16. (Sec. 1.3)  Which merchant services provider(s) does the state use to process card 

payments across the agency footprint? Is the respondent required to work with or replace 
this provider(s)? 

 
See response to Question 4. 
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17. (Sec. 1.3)  Will each agency maintain their own merchant account(s) for processing card 
payments or will some agencies share a merchant account? 

 
It is anticipated that each agency will maintain its own merchant account. However, 
proposals from Respondents that include options for agencies to share merchant 
accounts while preserving accounting requirements including the ability of all 
agencies to perform necessary financial reconciliations will be considered. 

 
18. (Sec. 1.3)  Is there an estimated timeframe that all 40 agencies will be migrated to the new 

Portal? 
 

The State has not established a timeframe. Respondents are encouraged to provide 
estimated timelines and project plans in response to Section 4.4.1.3.2. 

 
19. (Sec. 2.3.4, p. 23)  Is it the State’s intent to award to a single vendor? 
 

Yes. 
 
20. (Sec. 2.10, p. 16)  In the prebid meeting, the State mentioned the Department of Revenue 

had not signed up to be a part of the RFP. Is the Department of Revenue pursuing their own 
portal and payment vehicle? 

 
The Department of Revenue is a part of the State of Iowa executive branch and it is 
anticipated that like all executive branch agencies they will participate in the 
E-Government Application Portal. 

 
21. (Sec. 3.1.2, p. 26)  Would the State consider allowing for a completely electronic bid 

submission due to current travel and social distancing restrictions? 
 

Due to current travel and social distancing restrictions, the State will not reject 
Proposals that do not include printed copies as required in Section 3.1. Please 
contact the Issuing Officer to make specific arrangements concerning the delivery of 
electronic bid submissions.  
 

22. (Sec. 3.1.2, p. 26)  With the current environment and uncertainty regarding shutdowns and 
social distancing, will there be someone at the location to receive the hard copies and digital 
copy in person? If not, will the State consider email copies only? 

 
Yes, there will be a person able to receive hard copies in person at State of Iowa 
offices. Please contact the Issuing Officer to make specific arrangements concerning 
the delivery of electronic bid submissions. 
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23. (Sec. 3.2.5, p. 27, 48, and 49)  If our cost proposal has various volume tiers and costs 
dependent upon the type of payment options the consumer or business selects, may we 
utilize a separate excel document showing these costs? 

 
Respondents are required to complete the Cost Proposal as set forth in the RFP. 
Supplemental material will not be considered in the evaluation and scoring of 
Proposals. Supplemental materials may be used by the State to disqualify 
Respondents in the event that they contradict or otherwise seek to qualify responses 
set forth in the Cost Proposal.  

 
24. Regarding Item 4.2.6 on page 29, would you please clarify the "type" of business you are 

referring to? What is your expected response? 
 

The legal structure under which your business is registered within your state of 
incorporation (e.g. Limited Liability Corporation, Sole Proprietorship, etc). 

 
25. (Sec. 4.3.1.2, p. 30)  Can the State provide technical details on the enterprise identity 

management system?  For example, what authentication protocols are supported?  What 
profile information is stored for user accounts? 

 
The State has not yet selected an Identity Management product to replace its current 
single-credential system which is internally developed. To assist the State in 
evaluating Proposals, information concerning preferred partners and/or and 
limitations or barriers to the implementation of best-of-breed industry-standard 
solutions for identity management (e.g. Okta) should be described.  

 
26. (Sec. 4.3.1.2, p. 30)  We understand that the State’s Master Data Management (MDM) 

system is currently in development, but could the State please provide information on the 
anticipated capabilities of this MDM solution, and if available provide additional technical 
detail on the MDM? 

 
The State is in early phases of MDM planning. Technical requirements are still in 
development and no solution has yet been selected for the implementation of MDM. 
To assist the State in evaluating Proposals, information concerning preferred 
partners and/or and limitations or barriers to the implementation of best-of-breed 
industry-standard solutions for identity management should be described.  

 
27. (Sec. 4.3.1.2)  Please provide details of the states preferred Master Data Management 

system and Identity Management System. 
 

See Answers to Questions 25 and 26. 
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28. (Sec. 4.3.1.4)  Is there an existing ECM or Case Management System that is required to 
interface with the new portal to support the Case Workers example? 

 
The State of Iowa is expanding its OpenText presence. The Case Workers example 
would require integration with customized or configured solutions developed for the 
State by third parties such as Accenture. 

 
29. (Sec. 4.3.1.4)  Is the respondent required to propose a Case Management System? 
 

No, The State of Iowa seeks the capability to integrate with agency systems, such as 
Case Management Systems, that are provided by a range of vendors using a wide 
variety of technology types. It is anticipated that many of these integrations will 
require application-specific changes to accommodate the intake of data from forms 
presented in the E-Government Application Portal. Respondents who provide a 
platform that makes such integration repeatable, systematic, and easily consumable 
by a diverse portfolio of agency applications will be judged more favorably by the 
State. 

 
30. (Sec. 4.3.2.1, p. 31)  The requested availability level of 99.99% exceeds that offered by 

many cloud providers and allows for less than an hour of downtime per year, including 
downtime associated with maintenance. We encourage the State to consider reducing this 
to a more obtainable level such as 99.9%, which is the SLA offered by many cloud providers 
and the performance level listed in the Service Levels section of the included contract. 

 
The State will accept proposals that meet a 99.9% uptime guarantee. 

 
31. Item 4.3.3.3 on page 32 reads "State and federal laws, regulations, standards, and policies 

concerning the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of proposed System as outlined in 
Section 4.3.14." We are unable to find Section 4.3.14 - would you please clarify the section 
we should reference in order to respond to this request? 

 
32. (Sec. 4.3.3.3, p.32)  There is no Section 4.3.14.  Can the State please clarify where 

compliance with all applicable State and federal laws, regulations, standards, and policies 
concerning the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of proposed System is outlined? 

 
(RESPONSE TO #31 AND #32)  The reference to Section 4.3.14 should have been 
changed to reference Sections 4.3.3.1 and 4.3.3.2.  During editing, the section 
numbers were changed, but that reference was missed.  We apologize for any 
confusion. 
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33. (Sec. 4.3.3.10, p. 32)  Do vendors need to include their Attestation of Compliance with their 
bid submission or would an acknowledgement and an agreement to provide throughout the 
life of the contract suffice? 

 
Affirmation that such an Attestation of Compliance will be available at the time of 
contract execution is sufficient to be judged responsive to Specification 4.3.2.10. An 
Attestation of Compliance will be required at the time of contract execution. 

 
34. (Sec. 4.3.6)  Does the state want a solution hosted in the vendor's cloud or in a state data 

center? 
The State requires that the solution be hosted in a cloud-service or vendor-operated 
data center that is compliant with all the requirements set forth in the RFP.  The State 
will not be able to provide hosting services for the solution proposed by 
Respondents. 

 
35. (Sec. 4.3.7)  Could you elaborate on the requirement for escrowing applicable Portal source 

code and documentation? When providing a SaaS / COTS application, can Contractor 
include proprietary or shared software components that will not be placed in escrow? 

 
a. Does this requirement apply only to new code written for the state as part of this 

contract? 
 

This requirement applies to intellectual property developed for the State of Iowa 
and for which the State will have either a license or right of ownership. The 
requirement is not applicable to COTS or SaaS software. 

 
b. Is the State willing to waive this requirement for a SaaS solution? 

 
Yes, the State waives this requirement for SaaS or COTS intellectual property 
provided to the State as part of a Respondent’s Proposal.  

 
36. (Sec. 4.3.8.1 and 4.4.2.7.1, p. 37)  Can you please describe how the contractor will be 

asked to integrate with the State of Iowa's existing banks? Who are these banks and what 
type of integration will be necessary? 
 
The State’s primary bank is US Bank. Specific technical requirements for integration 
with US Bank and any other financial institutions used by the State of Iowa are not 
available at the current time. However, all requirements associated with Section 4.3.8, 
Iowa Code Chapter 12, and Iowa Code Chapter 12C will be enforced as a part of this 
RFP Process, subsequent contracting, and throughout the lifecycle of the agreement 
with the Successful Contractor.  
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37. (Sec. 4.3.8.2, p. 37 and 10)  How will the State's new E-Government Application Portal 
integrate into the State's existing payment processing contracts? 

 
Section 4.3.8.2 does not require that the E-Government Application Portal integrate 
with the State’s existing payment processing contracts. Rather, this RFP requires that 
the Contractor provide a payment processing service as part of the E-Government 
Application Portal delivered to the State of Iowa.  It is anticipated that this new service 
will ultimately replace other payment processing contracts held by the State over time 
as applications are transitioned. 

 
38. (Sec. 4.4.2.7, p. 37)  Would OCIO be open to receiving a proposal for a standalone 

electronic payment processing solution that would not include a proposal for the front-end 
application portal? 

No. This RFP is designed to align with the State’s vision for a single E-Government 
Application Portal that includes payment processing services. 

 
39. (Sec. 4.4.2.7.1, p. 37)  Please provide the list of the State of Iowa’s existing banks. 
 

It is the Agency’s current understanding that US Bank is the primary financial 
institution used by the State of Iowa. However the Office is aware that other financial 
institutions may provide certain services to state agencies. The Office does not 
currently possess a full and complete listing of those institutions. 

 
40. (Sec. 4.4.2.7.5)  How many agency locations would be a candidate for walk-in payments? 

Please describe the details of the requirement.  Would like details on an integrated 
Cashiering System? 
 
The Agency does not currently possess a full and complete listing of walk-in 
locations. Capabilities possessed by respondents to provide services such as 
integrated cashiering systems may be included in Proposals. However, if such 
capabilities will not be available to the State as part of the costs described in the Cost 
Proposal, those limitations should be noted wherever they are included in the 
Respondent’s Proposal. 

 
41. (Sec. 4.4.3.1, p. 37)  The range of sections 4.3.14 through 4.24 are not included in the RFP. 

Can the State please clarify where applicable State and federal laws, regulations, standards, 
and policies are defined? 

 
Again, the section numbers were changed during editing, but that reference was not 
corrected.  Those sections now comprise the entirety of Section 4.3.3 (including all 
subsections).  We apologize for any confusion. 
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42. (Sec. 5.3.2, p. 42)  Please confirm that when vendors are responding to the mandatory 

requirements in RFP section 4.3, that they are only required to agree to comply with or 
otherwise satisfy the requirements (Yes/No) and that these response sections do not require 
detailed answers as mentioned in the pre-proposal conference. 

 
Correct. Responses to all elements in Section 4.3 must come in the form of Yes/No. 

 
43. (Att. #1, Sec. 3B, p. 50)  Is the State open to other cost guarantees based on percentage or 

other factors outside of the CPI? 
 

No. 
 
44. If an agency’s third party software provider changes an integration fee, does the State intend 

to pay these fees? 
 

Yes, the State would anticipate paying any such fees levied by third parties 
responsible for providing applications or application development services to the 
State of Iowa in support of agency applications. 

 
45. (Att. #1, p.49)  Does the “Alternative Transaction Based Fee” pricing have to be a fixed 

dollar amount (e.g. $1.00), or can it be percentage or tier based pricing, based on the 
average payment? (note, this question is relevant if the vendor is expected to pay card 
processing costs which are variable and dependent on average payment amount). 

 
The Alternative Transaction Based Fee must be provided by respondents as a fixed 
dollar amount at the transaction levels set forth in the Cost Proposal.  

 
46. (Att. #1, p.49)  If the “Alternative Transaction Based Fee” pricing has to be a fixed dollar 

amount, AND vendor is expected to pay pay card processing costs, how does the State plan 
to handle the situation where some departments average card processing costs (e.g. tax 
payment interchange costs) can be $10 or more, while other departments which have lower 
average payment amounts (e.g. a drivers license) will have much lower costs? 

 
The State understands this concern. To assist Respondents submitting Proposals 
using the Alternative Transaction Based Fee Schedule, the State hereby amends the 
RFP Cost Proposal Section 3(a2) as follows: 
 

Respondent’s Alternative Transaction Based Fee Schedule Cost Proposal shall include 
an all-inclusive, itemized, one-time implementation and ongoing per-transaction costs in 
U.S. Dollars (including all travel, expenses, etc. in prices) assuming that the average 
payment amount for the 846,084 transactions set forth in the schedule is $110. 
Services provided under this schedule should include all implementation, agency 
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application integration, support, hosting and software services necessary for the full 
implementation of the E-Government Application Portal. For Transaction Fees 
Respondents should provide a transaction fee for each year and multiply it by the 
baseline Number of Transactions to get a total cost per year of service. The baseline 
number of transactions the State is using is the FY19 total transactions of 846,084 
transactions (as described in Section 1.3) for this cost proposal with an average 
payment amount of $110. The following template is required. Transaction costs will 
be variable from year to year and any final agreement executed with the 
Contractor may reflect transaction cost tiers that are not further described in the 
table set forth in Section 3(a2) of this Cost Proposal. However, if the successful 
Contractor wishes to leverage tiered pricing, supplementary evidence of pricing 
tiers must be included as part of the Contractor’s response to this Proposal and 
the transaction fee identified below will be applicable to all transactions processed 
regardless of volume. Only complete cells that are shaded white. Refer to the following 
example table before completing the cost proposal table farther below. 

 
Additionally, the State hereby amends RFP Cost Proposal Section 3(a2)(c) as follows: 
 

The baseline number of transactions the State is using is based on the FY19 total 
transactions of 846,084 transactions (as described in Section 1.3) with an average 
payment size of $110 for this cost proposal. 

  
47. (Att. #1, p.49-50)  Under “Traditional Fixed Fee” is the vendor or State paying for each of the 

following transaction costs? 

 V = Vendor pays cost       S = State pays cost 

 Card interchange and association costs 

 Chargebacks and misc. card costs 

 E-check processing cost 

 E-check validation cost 
 

The Transaction Fee is an all-includes cost per-transaction, regardless of the type of 
transaction. 
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48. (Att. #1, p.49-50)  Under “Alternative Transaction Based Fee” is the vendor or State paying 

for each of the following transaction costs? 

 V = Vendor pays cost       S = State pays cost 

 Card interchange and association costs 

 Chargebacks and misc. card costs 

 E-check processing cost 

 E-check validation cost 
 

The Transaction Fee is an all-includes cost per-transaction, regardless of the type of 
transaction. 
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